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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

RICHMOND DIVISION 
 
In re: DORI DANYELLE WINGATE 
           Debtor 

Case No.  15-35033-KLP
Chapter 13 

             
         
DORI DANYELLE WINGATE, individually and on behalf of a  
class of similarly situated individuals, 
 
                    Plaintiff,                                                
 
v.  Adv. Pro. No. 17-04453-KLP 
  
BLUECHIP FINANCIAL,  
d/b/a Spotloan.  
and 
AMERICAN INFOSOURCE LP 
 
                              Defendants. 
              
 

Plaintiff’s Opposition to Defendant Spotloan’s Motion  
to Dismiss Class Action Complaint  

 
Introduction 

This case has two basic claims, both of which are based on proceedings within this Court.  

The first, which Plaintiff asserts against Defendant American InfoSource LP (“InfoSource”),  is 

brought pursuant to the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1692, et seq. 

The second claim asserts a violation of Fed.R.Bankr.P. 3001, and seeks appropriate relief under 

that rule. Plaintiff is asserting the second claim against Defendant Blue Chip Financial, d/b/a 

Spotloan (“Spotloan”).  
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Plaintiff’s Complaint alleges that Spotloan filed the Proofs of Claim attached to the 

Complaint, specifically Exhibits 1 and 2 regarding Plaintiff, on its own part or through its agent 

and co-defendant, American InfoSource LP (“InfoSource”).  It states that Defendants knew that 

the information in the proof of claim was not true and correct, that Defendants intentionally and 

willfully misrepresented in the proof of claim that no interest was included, and that Defendants 

intentionally and willfully failed to attach the loan documents in their possession which would 

show that interest was included.  As more fully explained below, based on the allegations in the 

Complaint, Plaintiff properly asserts a claim that Spotloan violated Rule 3001 in filing its claims, 

and the Court can award appropriate relief for that violation. 

Facts 

The Complaint includes examples of Proofs of Claim filed for Spotloan in Plaintiff’s 

bankruptcy case  and the cases of several other debtors.  Each example shows a Proof of Claim 

identifying the current creditor as either “American InfoSource LP as agent for Spot Loan” or 

“Spot Loan by American InfoSource LP as agent”.  Exhibit 1 is Proof of Claim 1-1, which was 

filed on behalf of Spotloan in Plaintiff’s bankruptcy case.  Proof of Claim 1-1 was filed without 

any copies of the loan agreement. In Box 1 of the Proof of Claim, Defendant indicated that no 

interest or other charges were included in the claim. Attached to Proof of Claim 1-1 is a 

document entitled “Statement of Accounts”.  That document states that the agent who signed the 

Proof of Claim “relied in part on information provided by an employee at Spot Loan who has 

personal knowledge as to the calculation of the claim amount and a summary of that process. 

This information will be provided upon request.”  

Exhibit 2 is Proof of Claim 1-2 in Plaintiff’s case, which Defendants filed after Plaintiff 

objected to Proof of Claim 1-1.  This Amended Proof of Claim again asserts that no interest or 
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fees are included in the claim amount, and it again asserts, under oath, that the information 

provided is true and correct.  Defendants attached a copy of the underlying loan agreement to the 

Amended Proof of Claim.  That agreement shows a principal balance of $800.00, and an interest 

rate of 360%.  It also asserts that the laws of the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa Indians 

apply “exclusively” to the transaction, and “that United States state law does not apply to the 

Loan Agreement in any way.” 

Paragraph 23 specifically alleges that Spotloan knew the information in the proof of 

claim was not true.  Paragraph 28 alleges that Spotloan intentionally and willfully misrepresented 

that no interest was included.  Paragraph 29 alleges that Spotloan intentionally and willfully 

failed to attach the loan documents to the claim.   

Exhibits through 3 through 6 are Proofs of Claim filed for Spotloan in other chapter 13 

bankruptcy cases in the Eastern District of Virginia.  Similar to the Proof of Claim in Exhibit 1, 

they do not include any supporting loan documents.  The Complaint alleges that Spotloan 

violated Federal Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure 3001(c)(1) and (2) by filing or authorizing the 

filing of Proofs of Claim that (a) intentionally omit the documentation underlying the claims 

(Para. 76), (b) intentionally falsely assert that no interest or fees or other charges were in the 

claim amounts, and (c) fail to include an itemized statement of the interest, fees, expenses, or 

charges that it knew were actually incurred before the bankruptcy petitions were filed and which 

were included in the claim amounts (Para. 77).   

Thus, the Complaint specifically alleges that Spotloan is filing, or authorizing the filing 

of, claims that are legally insufficient to meet the minimum requirements for filing claims in 

bankruptcy.    
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Argument 

I.  

Plaintiff’s Complaint Pleads Specific Facts to Meet  
the Requirements of Twombly and Iqbal. 

 
A. The Rule 12(b)(6) standard for a motion to dismiss and Rule 8 require 

factual allegations rather than mere legal conclusions.  
 

 The Supreme Court has articulated the following standard regarding factual allegations 

that are required to survive dismissal: 

While a complaint attacked by a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss does not need 
detailed factual allegations, a plaintiff's obligation to provide the “grounds” of his 
“entitlement to relief” requires more than labels and conclusions, and a formulaic 
recitation of the elements of a cause of action will not do. Factual allegations must 
be enough to raise a right to relief above the speculative level, on the assumption 
that all the allegations in the complaint are true (even if doubtful in fact). 

 
Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555, 127 S.Ct. 1955, 167 L.Ed.2d 929 (2007) 

(quotation marks, ellipsis, citations, and footnote omitted).  A complaint must contain sufficient 

factual matter to “state a claim that is plausible on its face.” Id. at 570.  “A claim has facial 

plausibility when the pleaded factual content allows the court to draw the reasonable inference 

that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678, 129 

S.Ct. 1937, 1949, 173 L.Ed.2d 868 (2009) (citing Twombly, 550 U.S. at 556). 

A Rule 12(b)(6) motion “challenges the legal sufficiency of a complaint considered with 

the assumption that the facts are alleged to be true.” “[D]etermining whether a complaint states 

on its face a plausible claim for relief and therefore can survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion . . . 

requires the reviewing court to draw on its judicial experience and common sense.” Francis v. 

Giacomelli, 588 F.3d 186, 192-93 (4th Cir. 2009).  The Rule requires that the facts alleged by the 

Plaintiff are presumed to be true and the complaint should be dismissed only when “‘it is clear 

that no relief could be granted under any set of facts that could be proved consistent with the 
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allegations.’” White v. Jones, No. 1:10CV799, 2010 WL 3395695, at *2 (E.D. Va. Aug. 23, 

2010) aff'd, No. 10-7283, 2010 WL 5439712 (4th Cir. Dec. 29, 2010)(quoting Hishon v. King & 

Spalding, 467 U.S. 69, 73 (1984)).  Thus, Rule 12(b)(6) tests the sufficiency of the Complaint 

without resolving disputes of fact, the merits of claims, or the applicability of defenses. Verrett v. 

Gen. Motors Auto. Grp., No. 3:15CV416-HEH, 2016 WL 4500865, at *1 (E.D. Va. Aug. 26, 

2016).  

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8 demands only that a complaint contain “a short and 

plain statement of the claim showing the pleader is entitled to relief.” FED.R.CIV.P. 8(a)(2).  This 

standard exists simply to provide the defendant with fair notice of what plaintiff’s “claim is and 

the grounds upon which it rests.” Verrett, 2016 WL 4500865, at *1 (quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. 

Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)).  The facts a plaintiff pleads must show a right to relief that 

is more than merely speculative; the plaintiff must plead a plausible claim for relief using facts 

that allow the Court to reasonably infer that the defendant is liable for the alleged wrongdoing. 

Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).  Courts have described Rule 8’s standard as “low” 

and “not onerous”—even after Twombly and Iqbal. Alexander v. District Court of Md. for 

Charles Cty., No. DKC 2007-1647, 2008 WL 6124449, at *6 (D. Md. Mar. 20, 2008); Ortiz-Diaz 

v. United States Dept. of Housing & Urban Dev., 961 F. Supp. 2d 104, 108 (D.D.C. 2013); 

Claver v. Coldwell Banker Residential Brokerage Co., No. 08cv817–L(AJB), 2009 WL 801869, 

at *2 (S.D. Cal. Mar. 25, 2009).  

B. Plaintiff has alleged specific facts rather than mere legal conclusions. 

By attaching the several Proofs of Claim that Spotloan and InfoSource filed, specifically 

Exhibits 1 and 2 regarding Plaintiff, by stating in Paragraph 23 that Defendants knew that the 

information in the proof of claim was not true and correct, by stating in Paragraph 28 of the 
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Complaint that Defendants intentionally and willfully misrepresented in the proof of claim that 

no interest was included, by stating in Paragraph 29 of the Complaint that Defendants 

intentionally and willfully failed to attach the loan documents in their possession which would 

show that interest was included, Plaintiff’s Complaint has alleged sufficient facts to apprise 

Spotloan of the claims against it.  Plaintiff’s Complaint has alleged specific facts rather than just 

legal conclusions.  See  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678; Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 

U.S. at 570 (“we do not require heightened fact pleading of specifics, but only enough facts to 

state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”); see Arlozynski v. Rubin & Debski, P.A., 710 

F.Supp.2d 1308, 1310-11 (M.D.Fla. 2010).  As set forth below, these specific facts state a 

plausible claim for relief under Federal Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure 3001.   

II.    
 

The Complaint Alleges Facts that Provide this Court Jurisdiction to Issue Appropriate 
Relief as a Sanction for Spotloan’s Violation of Rule 3001  

 
Spotloan asserts that Rule 3001(c) does not provide Plaintiff with an independent claim 

that can be pursued in this Court.  In making this assertion, Spotloan confuses the potential 

validity of its claim with the violation of Rule 3001 that appears on the face of its claim.  This 

Adversary Proceeding is not an Objection to Claim under Rule 3007.  Instead, as a proceeding to 

recover money or property under Rule 7001(1) and to obtain declaratory judgment under Rule 

7001(9), it contains a request for appropriate relief to be ordered against Spotloan under Rule 

3001(c)(2)(D).  Whether or not violating Rule 3001 is independent grounds for disallowing 

Spotloan’s claim is not a matter at issue on a Motion to Dismiss. The question of the scope of the 

“appropriate relief” is entirely different than whether Plaintiff has properly sought relief under 

Rule 3001 with regard to Spotloan’s facially noncompliant Proofs of Claim.  

Case 17-04453-KLP    Doc 25    Filed 08/16/17    Entered 08/16/17 17:19:09    Desc Main
 Document      Page 6 of 20



 

7 
 

A. Spotloan violated Rule 3001(c) because its first claim contained no 
supporting documents, and all its claims falsely claim that no interest is in 
the claim amount even though Spotloan knew interest was in each claim.      

 
1.  Contrary to the express requirements of Rule 3001(c)(1),  Exhibit 1 
contains neither supporting documents nor any assertion that such 
documents were lost or destroyed.    
  

Rule 3001(c)(1) states, “[e]xcept for a claim governed by paragraph (3) of this 

subdivision, when a claim, or an interest in property of the debtor securing the claim, is based on 

a writing, a copy of the writing shall be filed with the proof of claim.  If the writing has been lost 

or destroyed, a statement of the circumstances of the loss or destruction shall be filed with the 

claim.”  Paragraph (3) governs claims based on open-end or revolving credits agreements and 

only requires holders of such claims to provide the writing upon request of a party in interest. 

Fed.R.Bankr.P. 3001(c)(3)(A).  Consequently, any claim must meet the above requirements or 

the claim violates Rule 3001 on its face.  

Because Exhibit 1 purports to be for “Money Loaned,”   Rule 3001(c)(1) required 

Defendants to attach the writing upon which the claim was based—or, if the writing had been 

lost or destroyed—“a statement of the circumstances of the loss or destruction.”  Like in Exhibits 

3, 4, 5, and 6, Defendants did not attach any writing upon which its claim was based.  Because 

no documents were provided, the only way for Spotloan to have complied with Rule 3001(c)(1) 

was to attach  “a statement of the circumstances of the loss or destruction.”  Spotloan does not 

represent that the underlying documentation was lost or destroyed.  Rather, the claims include 

the following boilerplate language: 

 

This language clearly fails to satisfy the plain requirements of Rule 3001(c)(1).  Defendants 

purposefully withhold underlying documentation, in violation of Rule 3001(c)(1), because the 
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underlying documentation reveals that Spotloan is issuing unlawful and usurious loans.  The 

underlying documentation, as shown in Exhibit 2, is for a loan with 360% interest that purports 

to claim the loan is subject exclusively to tribal law rather than laws of United States.  Attaching 

such documentation in the first instance would have shown the Trustee, the debtor, and all other 

parties in interest that Spotloan’s claim was highly suspect.   

Because the Proof of Claim in Exhibit 1 does not attach the writings upon which the 

claim is based, and because it does not contain any statement describing the “circumstances” of 

the loss or destruction of the writing, the Court should find that Plaintiff has both alleged a 

violation of Rule 3001(c)(1), and has proven that violation of Rule 3001(c)(1).   

2.  Contrary to the requirements of Rule 3001, all of Spotloan’s claims violate 
Rule 3001 by falsely claiming no interest is included when Spotloan knows 
that interest is included in the claims.   
  

Rule 3001(c)(2)(A) requires creditors to file a Proof of Claim that truthfully states 

whether or not interest is included in the claim.  As shown by Exhibit 1 and 2, and as alleged in 

the Complaint, Spotloan violated Rule 3001 by filing the Proofs of Claim on its own part or 

through its agent and co-defendant, InfoSource, when the signor did not have a reasonable belief 

that the information contained within the Proof of Claims were true (Para. 23), by intentionally 

and willfully misrepresenting in the Proof of Claims that no interest was included (Para. 28), and 

by intentionally and willfully failing to attach the loan documents in their possession which 

would show that interest was included (Para. 29).  Specifically, Spotloan had the Proofs of Claim 

signed under oath when it knew that oath was false.  Thus, Plaintiff plausibly alleges that 

Spotloan violated Rule 3001(c)(2)(A). 

B. Based on the several violations of Rule 3001(c) the Complaint alleges 
sufficient facts for Plaintiff to pursue a remedy directly under Rule 
3001(c)(2)(D) and also under 11 U.S.C. § 105. 
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1.  Rule 3001(c)(2)(D) provides this Court jurisdiction to determine an 
appropriate remedy after notice and hearing within an adversary 
proceeding. 

 
When the alleged holder of a claim fails to provide any information required by Rule 

3001(c), Rule 3001(c)(2)(D) allows this Court to order appropriate relief, after notice and 

hearing.  As this Court explained in Maddux v. Midland Credit Management, Inc., 567 B.R. 489 

(Bankr. E.D.Va. 2016), —where, as here, a creditor files its claim in non-compliance with Rule 

3001 and deprives a debtor of “sufficient information to evaluate the validity of [the claims] 

without undue burden or expense”—a debtor is both harmed by the violations of Rule 3001 and 

may obtain relief in this Court. Maddux, 567 B.R. at 500.  Plaintiff is asking the Court to impose 

an award of the appropriate remedy for Spotloan’s violations of Federal Rule of Bankruptcy 

Procedure 3001(c)(1), as determined by this Court, including but not limited to striking 

Spotloan’s claims filed in violation of this rule, see Complaint at Part VII, ¶(v).   Requesting that 

relief within an adversary proceeding is one way to have this Court order such relief after notice 

and hearing, and does not equate to asserting a general private right of action which could be 

pursued in District Court. 

Spotloan’s central argument improperly deprives this Court of the very power granted by 

the Rule.  It asserts that Count II of the Complaint should be dismissed “because a violation of 

Rule 3001 does not give rise to a private cause of action”. Spotloan’s Motion to Dismiss at Part 

III, A, page 3.  In support of this argument, it cites In re Critten, 528 B.R. 835 (Bankr. M.D.Ala. 

2015), where the debtor sought “money damages” for the creditor’s alleged violation of Rule 

3001. Critten, 528 B.R. at 839.  The court in Critten noted that “Critten does not allege any facts 

which show that the Proof of Claim filed by Quantum in this case fails to comply with Rule 

3001” Id. at 838.  The Court also pointed out that “Critten does not discuss Rule 3001(c)(2)(D), 
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and that Critten presented creditor misconduct cases without alleging any such misconduct by 

the Defendant. Id. at 841.  Given such pleadings and lack of attention by the Plaintiff, the Court 

then found no “private right of action for damages” for violations of Rule 3001. Id. at 842.  To 

reach that decision, the Critten court inferred into Rule 3001 that its remedy was limited to “a 

proceeding involving the validity of a claim.” Id. at 840.  The Court did not say that a 

Bankruptcy Court has no power to order appropriate relief for such violations, and was not 

presented with a simple request for the appropriate remedy under Rule 3001(c)(2)(D).  Given 

that Critten did not even ask the Court to proceed under that Rule, the Court’s analysis of the 

issue before it ended with the decision that claim for actual damages could not be asserted; the 

remainder is dicta without the benefit of briefing or argument.  Accordingly, Plaintiff asserts 

Critten and its progeny should not be followed here. 

The Critten holding, that no general private right of action exists to obtain damages for a 

violation of Rule 3001, does not mean that Plaintiff has no right to petition this Court to impose 

sanctions pursuant to Rule 3001(c)(2)(D).  Rule 3001 does not specify the procedure by which 

the Court may impose the sanctions mentioned in Rule 3001(c)(2)(D), nor does the text of the 

rule deny a debtor the right to request sanctions in an adversary proceeding.  The only condition 

the Rule specifies is that, before the Court may impose sanctions for violations of Rule 3001, 

“notice and a hearing” must take place. See Fed.R.Bankr.P. 3001(c)(2)(D).  Therefore, it follows 

that any party with standing to object to a claim also has standing to petition the Court to impose 

sanctions under Rule 3001(c)(2)(D) by providing notice of the alleged violation and the request 

for sanctions, and scheduling a hearing.  Because 11 U.S.C. § 502(a) specifies an objection to 

claim may be brought by “a party in interest”, and a debtor is plainly a party in interest with 
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standing to object to a claim, a debtor must also have standing to seek the remedies provided 

under Rule 3001. 

Plaintiff has not sued Spotloan for damages, as the debtor in Critten did, and, unlike that 

debtor, Plaintiff has specifically asked only for the remedy provided for in Rule 3001.  Also, she 

has stated facts which, when viewed in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, conclusively prove 

Spotloan’s serious misconduct.  Plaintiff is simply requesting the Court impose sanctions under 

Rule 3001(c)(2)(D), and has provided notice and opportunity for a hearing.  Thus, Plaintiff has 

properly requested that the Court apply its discretion and award “the appropriate remedy”.  This 

Court has articulated in Maddux and in In re Goeller, Ch. 13 Case No. 12-17123-RGM, 2013 

WL 3064594 (Bankr.E.D.Va. 2013), that evidence of substantial justification, harmlessness, and 

willfulness are important in determining whether sanctions should be imposed and what 

sanctions are appropriate.  See Maddux at 499-500 and Goeller at *2.  Such evidence can only be 

obtained and provided to the Court if the Court denies Spotloan’s Motion to Dismiss Count II. 

Accepting the allegations of the Complaint as true, and as demonstrated by Spotloan’s 

lack of compliance with Rule 3001 shown in Exhibit 1, pursuant to the plain meaning of the 

remedy in Rule 3001(c)(2)(D), Plaintiff has standing to pursue the Rule 3001 violation after 

notice and hearing.  Therefore, Plaintiff has properly alleged a claim that this Court should 

impose the relief it deems appropriate under Rule 3001(c)(2)(D). 

2.  The Complaint alleges sufficient facts for Plaintiff to pursue a remedy 
under 11 U.S.C. § 105 in an adversary proceeding. 

 
Spotloan’s Motion at Part III, A., page 6, erroneously asserts that “Plaintiff has not 

alleged that BlueChip has violated a provision of the Bankruptcy Code, such as section 105 . . . 

.”  In fact, the Complaint states a basis under 11 U.S.C. § 105 for this Court to use its equitable 

power to sanction Spotloan by alleging that “Spotloan knowingly filed or knowingly authorized 
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the filing of improper Proofs of Claim that failed to comply with Bankruptcy Rule 3001 and 

which contained false statements.”  See Complaint at ¶74.  This summary statement is supported 

by the factual allegations set forth in paragraphs 23 through 28 of the Complaint, which allege 

Spotloan made false statements and intentional misrepresentations in the original Proof of Claim, 

and in paragraphs 34, 35, and 37 of the Complaint, which allege Spotloan made false statements 

and intentional misrepresentations in the Amended Proof of Claim.  Allegations of false 

statements by Spotloan, considered in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, implicates § 105, 

which this Court has acknowledged applies in cases like this: “. . . §105 may be used to sanction 

the filing of a proof of claim violative of the Bankruptcy Code and abusive of the bankruptcy 

process, that is, as the federal criminal code aptly describes, a claim that is false or fraudulent.”  

In re Varona, 388 B.R. 705, 717 (Bankr.E.D.Va. 2008). 

Similar to its argument that Plaintiff has no right of action under Rule 3001, however, 

Spotloan also argues that Plaintiff may not invoke § 105 as a basis for relief because no private 

right of action exists under § 105.  In this regard, Spotloan’s argument is similar to the argument 

that the creditor made in In re Tate, 253 B.R. 653 (Bankr.W.D.N.C. 2000).  In Tate, debtors filed 

a complaint seeking to initiate a class action proceeding against mortgage servicer Nationsbanc 

and, among other causes of action, alleged § 105 gave the court the authority to order the creditor 

to pay restitution to the debtors –and similarly situated debtors –for attorney fees that 

Nationsbanc had improperly charged in violation of § 506(b) and Rule 2016. Tate, 253 B.R. at 

666-667.  Nationsbanc argued the Court was required to dismiss the Complaint because there 

was no private right of action under § 506(b). “This,” the court said, “is patent nonsense.” Tate at 

668.   
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As the Tate court explained, although § 506(b) allowed Nationsbanc to obtain payment of 

fees, Rule 2016 placed affirmative obligations on it to accurately identify the fees charged to the 

debtors as attorney fees subject to the court’s determination of reasonableness. Id.  Because 

Nationsbanc did not abide by the requirements of the Rule—and because the fees improperly 

charged were paid by the debtors’ post-petition income, an asset of the estate—the Court could 

employ § 105 to craft the appropriate remedy. Id.  As the court said, 

The Court will not allow the Defendant to turn the Bankruptcy Code upon itself in 
this fashion. Without determining the existence of an express or implied cause of 
action, the Court recognizes that § 506(b) and Rule 2016 create rights and duties 
for creditors in bankruptcy cases. A creditor may be entitled to payment of 
professional fees under its contract with a debtor, but before those funds will be 
paid from the bankruptcy estate, the creditor must affirmatively demonstrate their 
reasonableness to the court after notice. If a creditor elects to ignore the law to 
obtain such fees, it is well within the Court's authority under § 105 to rectify that 
error. 
 
Furthermore, the relief sought by the Plaintiffs—restitution of fees actually paid 
to NationsBanc by the class members—is nothing more than an equitable remedy 
necessary to preserve the benefits and burdens established in § 506 and Rule 
2016. Under § 105, this Court has the power to grant restitution to effectuate those 
sections when, as here, a creditor has collected money from the estate on 
improperly filed claims. 
 
[   ]. 
 
In summary, § 105 authorizes the Court to take whatever action is necessary to 
enforce the Code's provisions. The bankruptcy court is entitled to exercise its 
powers under the Code to restrain a creditor from overreaching. To do otherwise 
would allow NationsBanc to perpetrate a fraud on the Court and other parties in 
interest. In the present case, the Attorney Fee claimed by NationsBanc has been 
found unreasonable under § 506 and violative of Bankruptcy Rule 2016. 
Therefore, the Court finds the equitable remedy of restitution appropriate and 
grants summary judgment for the Plaintiffs on this issue. 
 

Id. at 668-669. 
 
 Just as Nationsbanc abused its right to charge fees under § 506(b) without complying 

with Rule 2016 in Tate, Spotloan has abused the rights afforded it under § 502 to file claims 
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without also meeting the obligations of Rule 3001.  Also like the Tate case, the debtor in this 

case filed her Complaint to restrain Spotloan from perpetrating a fraud on the Court. She asserts 

that § 105 gives the Court the power to fashion an appropriate remedy under the circumstances, 

using the remedies set forth in Rule 3001 as well as disallowance of Spotloan’s claims.  Spotloan 

argues that the lack of a private right of action under § 105 means the Court cannot fashion an 

appropriate remedy and should result in dismissal of the Complaint.  The Court should reject this 

argument, as it would “turn the Bankruptcy Code on itself.” 

 Similar to the issue at bar, courts have used § 105 to fashion remedies for debtors injured 

by a creditor’s willful violation of the discharge injunction of § 524, even though § 524 does not 

provide debtors a private right of action. See, e.g., Erhart v. Fina, Case No. 1:12-cv-660, 2012 

WL 12870343, E.D.Va. 2012, aff’d, In re Fina, 550 Fed.Appx. 150 (4th Cir. 2014) (unpublished).  

This Court has similarly recognized that § 105 gives it the power to enforce the discharge 

injunction of § 524 by holding a creditor violating § 524 in civil contempt. See In re Minor, Ch. 

7 Case No. 10-30161-KLP, Adv. No. 13-03152-KLP, 2015 WL 1540969 at FN 4 

(Bankr.E.D.Va. 2015).  As the First Circuit Court of Appeals explained in Bessette v. Avco Fin. 

Servs., “§ 105 does not itself create a private right of action, but a court may invoke § 105(a) ‘if 

the equitable remedy utilized is demonstrably necessary to preserve a right elsewhere provided in 

the Code,’ so long as the court acts consistent with the Code and does not alter the Code’s 

distribution or other substantive rights.” 230 F.3d 439, 444-445 (1st Cir. 2000), quoting Noonan 

v. Secretary of Health & Human Servs. (In re Ludlow Hosp. Soc'y, Inc.), 124 F.3d 22, 27 (1st 

Cir.1997).   

Like this Court in Minor, courts routinely use their contempt powers under § 105 to 

fashion remedies for debtors harmed by a creditor’s violation of the discharge injunction, despite 
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§ 524 having no self-executing verbiage conferring a private right of action to debtors.  In the 

same way, this Court may use its contempt power under § 105, as Chief Judge St. John stated in 

Varona, to sanction an abuse of process in filing false claims.  As another bankruptcy court 

stated in drawing a parallel between its authority to use § 105 to hold a creditor in contempt for 

violating the discharge injunction and for filing false proof of claims, “[i]t would be illogical to, 

on one hand, recognize the right of a debtor to bring a contempt action for violation of the 

discharge injunction, and then, on the other, dismiss a contempt cause of action brought by the 

debtor to remedy a creditor’s allegedly false or fraudulent proof of claim that abuses §§ 501 and 

502 of the Bankruptcy Code and Rule 3001(f).” In re Watson, Ch. 7 Case No. 10-1292, Adv. No. 

10-109, 2010 WL 4496837 at *4 (Bankr.N.D.W.V. 2010). 

Just as Plaintiff is not seeking civil damages against Spotloan for its violations of Rule 

3001, neither is Plaintiff asserting that § 105 gives her the right to seek actual damages, either for 

herself or the class she seeks to represent.  Spotloan’s “no private right of action” argument is a 

red herring because any absence of a private right of action for actual damages does not preclude 

the Court from using its equitable powers under § 105 to craft an appropriate sanction.  

Spotloan’s pattern of filing false claims throughout the Eastern District of Virginia is “violative 

of the Bankruptcy Code and abusive of the bankruptcy process” and is precisely the kind of 

misconduct against which Varona says the Court’s § 105 powers may properly be employed. 

C. In addition to the sanctions specifically set forth in Rule 3001(c)(2)(D), the 
Court may “award other appropriate relief”, which may include 
disallowance of claims. 
 

Spotloan roots part of its argument in the faulty assertion that Rule 3001 violations 

cannot be remedied by disallowing claims.  In filing its claims, Spotloan knowingly made false 

statements regarding the interest, fees, and other costs in this case and in the cases of similarly-
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situated debtors, and it deliberately failed to comply with applicable requirements of Rule 3001.  

This willful noncompliance, rising to the level of abuse of the claims process governed by § 502 

and Rule 3001, makes appropriate the Court’s use of its inherent powers to sanction, in 

conjunction with § 105 and Rule 3001(c)(2)(D), to impose sanctions on Spotloan, including 

disallowing its claims. 

 This Court has previously acknowledged that claims may be disallowed on the grounds 

of not being properly filed. See In re Commonwealth Biotechnologies, Inc., Ch. 11 Case No. 11-

30381-KRH, Adv. No. 12-03038-KRH, 2012 WL 5385632 at *6 (Bankr.E.D.Va. 2012).  Just as 

in this case, the claim at issue in Commonwealth Biotechnologies was filed in non-compliance 

with Rule 3001.  Id.  Likewise in Goeller, this Court recognized disallowance as a potential 

remedy—depending on evidence of “culpability, harm and materiality”—for Rule 3001 

violations. Goeller at *2. Commenting on the potential range of remedies under Rule 

3001(c)(2)(D), the Goeller Court explained,  

While not expressly stated, the list should be taken as inclusive and not exclusive 
of the sanctions and remedies available. The remedies listed are permissive. The 
rule provides that “the court may” take certain actions. (emphasis added.) 
Disallowing the proof of claim is not the mandated sanction or remedy. 
Precluding the holder of claim from presenting the omitted evidence in a 
contested matter or an adversary proceeding may have that result but that is a 
permissive, not a mandatory sanction. Disallowance of the claim should not be the 
automatic result of failure to comply. Other factors such as culpability, harm and 
materiality should be considered. 
 

Id. 
 
 In addition to their power under §105 to impose sanctions for civil contempt, bankruptcy 

courts may impose sanctions “pursuant to a court’s inherent authority to punish and/or deter 

offending conduct.” In re Gravel, 556 B.R. 561, 574 (Bankr.D.Vt. 2016).  “While these inherent 

powers must be exercised with restraint and discretion, a court may ‘safely rely on its inherent 
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power’ to impose sanctions where, ‘in the informed discretion of the court, neither the Statute 

nor the Rules are up to the task,’ as long as that action is not prohibited by the Bankruptcy 

Code.”  Gravel, 556 B.R. at 575, quoting Chambers v. NASCO, Inc., 501 U.S. 32, 50 (1991), and 

citing Law v. Siegel, --- U.S. ----,  134 S.Ct. 1188, 1191 (2014). 

 In Gravel, the bankruptcy court found that § 105, and the court’s inherent power to 

impose sanctions, allowed the court to impose a $375,000.00 sanction against a mortgage 

servicer that, after having been previous warned by the court, violated Rule 3002.1 and a court 

order by sending debtors notices of postpetition fees that had previously been disallowed. Gravel 

at 580 and FN10.  The Gravel court imposed sanctions using its inherent power and § 105, 

despite the availability of the specific sanctions listed in Rule 3002.1.  The court noted that 

bankruptcy courts are able to fashion a remedy depending on the circumstances of the case. 

Bankruptcy courts have extensive discretion under § 105 to determine what 
amount of sanctions is appropriate and reasonable. [  ]. Courts must give 
individualized consideration to the particular circumstances of the case, balance a 
myriad of factors, and very intentionally calculate the amount of the sanction to 
ensure it is no more than is reasonably necessary to deter the culpable conduct. 

 
Id. at 576. 
 
 This Court has numerous options available for remedying the problems caused by the 

creditor in this case, and the Court should reject Spotloan’s arguments that it is limited to the 

sanctions specified in Rule 3001(c)(2)(D).  Just as the creditor in Commonwealth 

Biotechnologies was given “sufficient notice of its non-compliance with the Bankruptcy Rules 

and afforded plenty of opportunity to cure,” after the debtor in this case objected to Spotloan’s 

initial claim, Spotloan filed an amended claim that repeated the same false statements regarding 

there being no interest, fees, and other charges included in the claim amount.  Not until the 

Complaint was filed in this case did Spotloan amend its claim, for a second time, to finally admit 
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that $698.87 in interest was included in the claim amount of $1,498.87.  The Court should 

consider Spotloan’s significant motivation for denying the truth about the exorbitant interest 

included its claim, because Plaintiff’s Objection to Spotloan’s initial claim explicitly alleged that 

the interest being charged—which Spotloan denied in the initial and the first amended claim—

violated Virginia’s usury laws.  This willful dishonesty is an abuse of the claims process that is 

fully within the Court’s power to sanction under § 105 and its inherent powers, and among the 

sanctions it is empowered to impose is disallowance of the claims. 

Conclusion 

Plaintiff therefore requests on behalf of herself, and the proposed Rule 3001 Class, that 

the Court deny Spotloan’s Motion to Dismiss and award such other and further relief as the 

Court deems appropriate. 
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Respectfully submitted, 
 

     DORI DANYELLE WINGATE 
      By:   /s/ Mark C. Leffler    
              Counsel for Plaintiff 
 
  Emily Connor Kennedy (VSB #83889) 
  Mark C. Leffler (VSB #40712) 
  Boleman Law Firm, P.C. 
  2104 W. Laburnum Ave., Suite 201 
  Richmond, VA 23227 
  Telephone (804) 358-9900 
  Counsel for Plaintiff 
 
  Dale W. Pittman (VSB #15673) 
  THE LAW OFFICE OF DALE W. PITTMAN, P.C. 
  The Eliza Spotswood House 
  112-A West Tabb Street 
  Petersburg, VA 23803 
  Telephone (804) 861-6000 
  Counsel for Plaintiff 
  
  Thomas D. Domonoske (VSB #35434) 
  Consumer Litigation Associates, P.C. 
  763 J. Clyde Morris Blvd., Suite 1A 
  Newport News, VA  23601 
  Telephone (540) 442-7706 
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